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PURCHASING DEPARTMENT 
 

TOWN OF ARLINGTON 
730 Massachusetts Avenue 

Arlington, MA 02476 
 

Telephone 781-316-3003 
Fax 781-316-3019 

 
June 11, 2024  

 
Request for Proposals #24-16 

Trash & Recycling Collection and Hauling 
 
 

ADDENDUM NO. 1 
 
The attention of Proposers is called to the following Addendum to the Request for 
Proposals. The items set forth herein, whether of omission, addition, subtraction, or 
clarification, shall be included in and form a part of the proposal submitted and shall become 
part of the Contract. 
 
 

1. In the RPF, Mary Ellen DeNatale’s email address was listed incorrectly.  The correct address is: 
mdenatale@town.arlington.ma.us 

 
2. A copy of the sign in sheet from May 30, 2024 is included with these responses. 

 
May 30, 2024 Site Visit Questions 

3. Are the yard waste tonnage numbers available? 
A listing of monthly collections for the past 4 years is included with these responses. 

4. Where is the yard waste going?  
 Woods Trucking, Peabody, MA; Arlington is open to proposals of alternate sites 

5. Do we have a count of the number of bulky items picked up each week?  
No.  Bulky collection is currently part of curbside collection and not tracked. 

6. Are we open to one vendor only bidding on the disposal of trash? 
Yes 

7. What is your motivation to go to containers? 
• The Town will likely switch to containers if the collection costs associated with automated 

trucks warrants the expenditure on carts.  
• We hope that carts can better contain trash and recycling on windy days. 
• We hope that carts can better limit exposure to animals. 
• We expect that standardized equipment can reduce missed collections. 
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8. What is the current trash disposal location? 

Win Waste in North Andover 

9. Do we plan to purchase carts? 
We do if we receive a cost proposal for automated collection that makes purchase of carts 
advantageous. We are already supported by a MA DEP grant for trash carts and expect to receive the 
Recycling Partnership recycling cart grant. 

10. Who currently picks up our mattresses? 
Tough Stuff Recycling 

11. What is the contamination percentage of recycling? 
We do not have the results of an official audit, but we believe it to be below 10% 

12. What is your current food scrap program? 
We have three drop off locations for vegetarian food scraps, which are collected three times a week. 
We also provide 12 gallon carts, sink-side collection bucket, and a roll of BPI certified compostable bags 
as a “starter kit” for any resident that signs up with a curbside subscription company. 

13. Are we interested in cart maintenance/inventory management/service? 
Yes, if we end up with a cart based program. We have very limited space for storage in Arlington. 

14. What cart sizes are we looking at? 
35 gallons for trash and 64 gallons for recycling 

15. Is cart maintenance between the hours of 8am-4pm? 
Yes, those are DPW working hours. If a vendor is interested in additional or adjusted hours, please 
explain the reasoning and we will be open to review. 

16. How are our current dumpsters being serviced? 
The dumpsters listed in the RFP are collected with residential service trucks, on route. School 
dumpsters are service during hours that fit with school opening/closing traffic.  

17. What is the bid deadline? 
July 12, 2024 at 10AM 

18. Do we have a school compost program? 
Yes, all 10 schools divert food scraps and BPI-certified trays. Back of kitchen also separates food scraps 
at some schools. 

19. How many yard waste trucks do we have in town? 
It varies on the season.  Between three (3) trucks in heavy season to one (1) in the summer. 

20. Are we enforcing the recycling is mandatory by-law? 
Yes, we place rejection stickers on trash that is over the limit, non-compliant/unacceptable items, and 
contaminated recycling. The hauling contractor and the DPW staff are enforcement partners. In 
addition to the Recycling Coordinator role, we have a Curbside Enforcement Officer position (vacant 
but we’re currently hiring) who will help with the stickering and follow up with residents. 
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21. Since the choice of the disposal and recycling end sites can have a significant impact on route and 
end site wait times, will the Town accept bids to specific end sites and be open to mutually agreeing 
to alternate site that the Town may agree to? 
The Town will accept bids to WIN North Andover, our current site, and if that disposal site changes, we 
will be open to a mutually agreeable price adjustment to an alternative site. 

Questions received via email on or before June 6th 

22. Please provide a copy of the Town’s current disposal contract. 
 A copy is included with these responses 
 

23. Is there a report or estimated number of “special collection” trips were requested by the town which 
were not the fault of contractor the past year?  
No, there is no list or report. Here is a list of common requests made by the Recycling Coordinator. 
Generally between 0 and 5 stops are requested in a week. 

• Additional recycling collection at Town Hall 
• Yard waste collected at a park clean up 
• (On-call) yard waste collection for Town Hall gardens 
• Trash collection at a park entrance due to a community litter cleanup 
• Additional collection of a dumpster at the middle school after a large event 
• Additional elementary school trash collection due to end of the year cleanout 
• Illegally dumped trash at a residence 

 
24. Page 28:  9.4.  Will the town accept the contractor to perform contamination audits instead of 

composition audits? 
No. The composition audit is required to determine the value of the recyclable materials.  
Contamination audits will determine if greater than 10% of material is non-recyclable. 
 

25. What is the estimated number of residents currently participating in the organics program? 
500-700 in the drop off program 
2400 in the privately-subscribed curbside collection program 
 

26. How many trash trucks are currently being used to service the curbside program?  
Three (3) 
 

27. How many yard waste trucks are being used to service the curbside program both in the heavy and 
light season?  
Three (3) in the heavy season, one (1) in the light, but 1 truck is not always proving to be sufficient. 
 

28. How many recycling trucks are being used to service the curbside program?  
Three (3) 
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29. Page 20: 15.1- Municipality request pricing for 3- open top roll off containers.  What material will be 
collected in these roll-offs?  Paragraph list 5 different types of material however only ask for pricing 
for 3 roll-offs.  
Arlington is requesting containers roll off containers for the following material 

• curbside recyclables (small dumpster, this would be new for Arlington) 
• OCC/Cardboard (large, this would be new for Arlington, we would also consider a compactor) 
• bulky rigid plastic (30 yard roll off, currently leased from recycler) 
• scrap metal (30 yard roll off, currently leased from recycler) 
• scrap wood (this would be new for Arlington and likely be seasonal (spring and fall) 

 
30. What is the estimated per hauls per week for the roll-offs at the DPW yard? 
• curbside recyclables – weekly, we’d guess 
• OCC/Cardboard - weekly, we’d guess 
• bulky rigid plastic - monthly 
• scrap metal – every 3 weeks 
• scrap wood – monthly in spring (3 months) and fall (3 months) 

 
31. Please confirm the size of toters the Town will purchase for trash and recycling if the town goes 

automated.  
35-gallon trash, 64-gallon recycling 
 

32. Page 27: 8.1.1a-   This section states residents in buildings ranging from 4-6 are eligible for recycling 
pick up.  Are these part of exhibit C? If not, then how many of 4-6 units buildings are there?  Will 
families in buildings 4-6 be eligible for recycling pick up if the town opts for automated program? 
No, 4-6 unit buildings do not currently have dumpsters, so they are not on that dumpster list. They are 
using their own barrels just as 1, 2 and 3 family buildings use. Yes, these buildings would receive carts 
for trash and recycling.  
 

33. Page 59 The municipality table list Apt buildings are these locations part of Exhibit C and if not, can 
we have a list the apt buildings which are part of the town contract and the equipment on site.  
We have made our best effort to list all dumpsters in Exhibit C, as well as all 96 gallon recycling carts 
that are at these same dumpster sites. There is no included list of smaller apartment buildings and 
multi-families that use barrels instead of dumpsters, as these will be found at the curb, not behind the 
buildings or in alleys. We consider them curbside residential customers. We do not track personal 
equipment, so we do not know how many barrels/carts there are at these locations. The “3 barrel 
limit” (100 gallon) limit is promoted through our website and literature as well as enforced at the curb. 
 

34. Page 59 please list of mixed use commercial locations address, along with commercial and industrial. 
Exhibit L lists commercial orange bag PAYT customers (to the best of our knowledge, we continue to 
refine this list). These addresses may be street-facing storefronts, home-based businesses, or industrial 
zoned businesses. We do not have a prepared list of mixed-use buildings. These would be scattered 
throughout town and treated with individualized solutions. For example, in some cases the mixed-use 
building owner pays for a private dumpster service, in other cases residents place their trash/recycling 
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on the curb. When it comes time to issue carts to every resident address, we will work to standardize 
the solution needed for these mixed-use residences. 
 

35. Page 62 Exhibit C – In the table does the number of “stops 1”,” weekly on route” does this indicate 
just 1x week dumpster pick up  
Yes.  In some instances (less than 5) more than one collection may be necessary.  In these cases, 
Arlington will put the additional collections against the extra discretional stops provided by the 
proposed RFP.  Some locations may require an addional pickup which will be contracted separately 
with the chosen vendor. 
 

36. Page 59, Exhibit B the condo list in this table, are they also listed in Exhibit C?  If not, is there a list of 
the condo in exhibit B?  Is the total 4121 individual units? 
There are a total of 4121 condo units in the Town.  They are made up of buildings as small as two units 
up to over 50 units.  Any condos which require a dumpster are listed in Exhibit C.  Other units are 
collected curbside.  The number of stops listed in Exhibit B is our best info on how many curbside 
collections are attributed to condos outside of the dumpster program. 
 

37. Does the town have a PW schedule to match the proposed contract years?  
Prevailing Wages have been included as part of the RFP. 
 

38. Will the Municipalities agree to enter into a mutually agreeable contract with the successful 
contractor? 
That is our intention. 
 

39. What will Arlington be paying per ton for MSW starting 7/1/2024?  
Arlington has a price of $87/ton for FY25 beginning 7/1/24 
 

40. What did Arlington pay per ton for recycling in May, April, and March.  Will Arlington be able to 
share the last 3 invoices? 
Arlington does not currently pay for the processing of recycling. 
 

41. Would Arlington be willing to have weekend yard waste pick ups during the busy season as long as 
they were pre planned? 
Perhaps, but we would ask that you describe what your plan would entail. Would this be in addition to 
weekday collections or instead of? Currently we allow weekend collections due to holiday delay weeks 
and in cases when yard waste routes were incomplete due to contractor error. 
 

42. can we add a PAYT system to Yard Waste bags over the 5 bag limit? We can administer it ourselves. 
Arlington is open to any proposal for consideration. 
 

43. The information provided for the White goods and Mattresses, is this the number of items collected, 
the number of stops, or the tonnage? 
Items collected.   



 Page 6 of 7  RFP #24-16 Addendum No 1 

 
44. Would you please provide the current rates for each service. 

Mattresses- Arlington charges residents $45 per mattress/boxspring unit 
White Goods- Arlington charges residents $20 per white good 
 

45. Trash and Recycling Set Out Procedures: The spec identify that the Contractor is responsible for any 
penalties and fines with the collection of unacceptable recyclables and waste. With Automated cart 
collections does the Town want the Contractors to price their work assuming they will have to open 
the lid to each cart and inspect the contents before dumping the carts into the route vehicles? 
Recycling: 
It’s not practical to open every lid but a vendor can easily reject obviously contaminated  
recycling set outs---many times with contaminated recycling carts the lids are open and snowconed 
with plastic bags hanging out.   
 
If the driver observes contamination as it enters the truck, Arlington would accept that the container 
be stickered (even if it’s empty) and a report be recorded for follow up by the Town employees. 
 
Trash: 
“The Contractor shall be responsible for any penalties associated with the collection or 
disposal of any Unacceptable Waste.” We intend this language to remain.  These penalties are for 
the most part waste ban violations given by waste ban inspectors at the disposal site.   The load 
would have to have over 30% recyclables or contain other waste ban materials, such as construction 
or demo debris, in quantities larger than would fit into a single trash barrel, which means the driver 
was picking up recyclables as trash or picking up banned material placed outside the trash barrel. 
This is easily avoidable by a driver in an automated truck. 
 

46. Section 7.2 Disposal: Since the choice of the disposal and recycling end sites can have a significant 
impact on route and end site wait times, will the Town accept bids to specific end sites and be open 
to mutually agreeing to alternate site that the Town may agree to? 
The Town will accept bids to WIN North Andover, our current site, and if that disposal site changes, we 
will be open to a mutually agreeable price adjustment to an alternative site. 

47. Section 7.1.2d Orange Bag Collection: The spec details that the cost of collection for additional 
locations for Orange Bags shall be set forth in the Price Proposal Sheet; where is that line item on the 
Price Sheet? 
Please see Price Proposal Sheet, Item # 7d. 

48. Exhibit H: Fuel Surcharge: In order to evaluate and compare the bids equally will the Town consider 
setting the Base Rate per gallon for Fuel with the most recent EIA released rate so that the starting 
Fuel rate is the same for all bidders? 
Yes.  We will provide a number with our next round of responses based on the latest EIA rates for gas 
and diesel. 
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All other terms and conditions of the Request for Proposals remain unchanged. 
 
ADDENDUM MUST BE ACKNOWLEDGED IN THE PROPOSAL. FAILURE TO 
ACKNOWLEDGE ANY OR ALL ADDENDA COULD RESULT IN REJECTION OF YOUR 
PROPOSAL AS NON-RESPONSIVE. 
 
James Feeney 
Town Manager 





Yard Waste Collections

FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24
Yard Waste Yard Waste Yard Waste Yard Waste

Tons Tons Tons Tons
Jul. 192.32 Jul. 222.72 Jul. 175.7 Jul. 329.92
Aug. 226.24 Aug. 212.8 Aug. 232.64 Aug. 180.16
Sep. 417.91 Sep. 213.12 Sep. 258.56 Sep. 250.24
Oct. 352.32 Oct. 320.32 Oct. 355.84 Oct. 536
Nov. 1,064.00 Nov. 537.92 Nov. 774.08 Nov. 837.76
Dec. 216 Dec. 457.92 Dec. 40.45 Dec. 184.32
Jan. 57.28 Jan. 25.92 Jan. 125.44 Jan. 90.88
Feb. 0 Feb. 29.76 Feb. 0 Feb. 0
Mar. 0 Mar. 0 Mar. 0 Mar. 0
Apr. 396 Apr. 289.28 Apr. 345.28 Apr. 336
May 324.32 May 235.84 May 281.6 May 278.4
Jun. 188.8 Jun. 256 Jun. 319.36 Jun. 421 est
Totals 3435 2802 2909 3445


























































































































